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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL [iIF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE ‘

Fort Egypt is one of a group of a dozen Cermanic farmhouses situated along the banks
of the Shenandoah River in Page County. Of that group, all of which were built in the -
second half of the 18th century, Fort Egypt is among the most important and may be one of
the earliest. Although it appears on the exterior to have been extensively altered, it
is in reality one of the least altered of this group of highly signlflcant houses.

Fort Egypt 1s a large, nearly square, two-story, two-bay house bullt of logs secured
by full-dovetail notching at the corners. The rear and two sides of the house have been
covered with asbestos shingles, but the logs are exposed on the front, which is partly
sheltered by a full-length, one-story porch of no particular style and indeterminate
‘date, A one-story, glassed-in porch along the east side of the house replaces a small
19th~century frame wing visible in old photographs. All of the windows are-lit by 6/6
sash set in frames possibly of early 19th-century date; these replace original horizontal
windows, similar to ones found on other Page County German houses and whose scars can
still be seen in the log walls inside and out. TFort Egypt is crowned by a low 19th-
century hipped roof which replaces an original gable roof. The height of the old roof
is perceptible in the division between finished and unfinished stonework on the original
limestone chimmey which projects above the present roof.

The house sits on a small knoll, facing south. The grade drops away roughly from
the southwest to the mortheast corners, exposing the limestone rubble basement at the
rear (north) and at the east., At the north and east wall is an exterior entrance to
the cellar. '

Like most Céntinental farmhouses, Fort Egypt was built as a voluminous building whose
interior spaces were fully utilized throughout the agricultural year for work, storage,
and family life, Consequently each floor contains important features of plan and deta11
which illuminate the house's use. S .

The cellar contains two rooms, occupying about two~thirds of the ground space.
Along the north side of the house is a long room entered from the outside at the east
end and used for general storage. In order to keep it cool, the ceiling is insulated
by "biscuits" of short stakes wrapped with straw and covered with clay. These were
fastened between the joists and set perpendicular to them. A thin layer of plaster was
‘then applied, flush with the surface of the joists, and the plaster and joists were
whitewashed. This was a common method of wall infilling in Continental houses but is
found only as cellar insulation in Virginia, since there are no frame Germanic houses

here.

Set in the southwest corner perpendicular to the outer room and reached from it is
a vaulted cooling cellar. Such cellars are commonly supposed to be defensive features but
are actually traditional European features. The cooling and storage functions of the
Fort Egypt GCewolbekeller are attested by the numerous wooden and iron hooks embedded in

the vault.

On the Ffirst floor, the plan 1s a standard Continental one, The central chimney
is flanked on the east by a narrow Kuche or kitchen with a stair in the southeast cormer
and with a smaller room partitioned off in the back of it. In many Germanic houses
this was a pantry, but at Fort Egypt there is a small fireplace here as well as internal
stairs to the cellar which appear to be an alteration. To the west of the chimmney 1s a
large Stube or formal parlor with a smaller Kammer or chamber behind it. In the northeast

(See Continuation Sheet ﬁl)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
Fort Egypt, a large full-dovetailed log house near the Shenandoah River in the

shadow of Massanutten Mountain, is one of the earliest and most complete of the small
group of Continental farmhouses which recall the original settlement of the Massanutten
region by Swiss settlers coming from Pennsylvania in the second quarter of the 18;h
century. Owned through most of its early existence by the Strickler and Stover

families and still in the hands of Strickler descendants, Fort Egypt is important both as
an outstanding example of a European house type rare in Vlrginia and as a familiar and
well-loved local landmark.

_ The tract on which FortEgypt stands, a fertile piece of lowland nestled in a turn of
the Shenandoah River long known as Egypt Bend, was part of a 1000-acre tract obtained by
Abraham Strickler from Jacob Stover, the Pennsylvania land promoter responsible for the
first settlement of this part of the Shenandoah Valley. Because of legal difficulties
with Stover's title, the Strickler holdings had to be regranted and confirmed several times
in the 30 years after settlement. :

strickler died in 1746, His inventory, one of the few early ones for German-speaking
settlers, reveals his ethnicity--it includes "6 Dutchs sithes" and three stove plates—-
and his apparent vocation (in addition to farming), for he owned "a parcell of Turners
Tools" and "the rest of the Tools belonging to the Turners lathe," possessions which
suggest that he made furniture. : :

Jacob Strickler Abraham's son, inherited one-fifth (208 acres) of his father's tract.
The younger Strickler, a well-known Mennonite preacher, built Fort Egypt. He chose a house
plan common to the Rhineland of Germany and Switzerland, a central-chimney building with
a narrow kitchen to one side and a large formal parlor and smaller chamber on the other.
Beneath it are two cellars, including a vaulted one which was used to keep perishable foods!
cool, Iron and wooden hooks survive to recall its original function.

After Jacob Strickler's death, ca. 1784, his son John inherited the property. But,
probably because of the family's Mennonite comnections (the church teaches that its membhers
should care for each other's well-being), John and his step-mother agreed that he would taks
an equal share of the farm with his siblings and that she would get the customary widow's
thirds. After 1787, when his step-mother remarried {to Abraham Heiston, owner of the nearby
Helston-Strickler House, another of the Page County Continental houses}, John Strickler
occupied his father's tract. At his death in 1802, the property was divided among his
siblings, who had been minors at the time of Jacob Strickler’s death. Damiel Stover, a
relative of the builder of Fort Stover, yet another of the nearby Page County Germanic
houses, bought the 208-acre Fort Egypt tract in the ensuing years after John Strickler's
estate was settled. The Stovers held the property until 1852, when it was sold to Jacob
Shenk, who owned it until Jacob C. Bowers bought it in 1895. Bowers sold it a year later
to Jacob C. Burner. After Burner's death in 1926, the Fort Egypt tract was sold to S,
Berry Hoover, whose heirs still own it. It is worth mentioning that through all of these

(See Continuation Sheet #2)
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6. REPRESENTATION IN EXISTING SURVEYS

(2) Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission Survey
1977, 1978 State
Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission-
221 Governor Street
Richmond, Virginia 23219

7. DESCRIPTION
corner of the Kammer rises a second stair to the upper level. Fort Egypt is thus a

‘Kreuzhaus (cross house)variant of the Continental three-room Flurkuchenhaus (hall-kitchen
house) plan found in many of the smalier Germanic houses of the Massanutten settlement.

The first—floor detailing is remarkable. As was common in Germanic houses, all of
the partitions are vertical boards, but they are varied. The plainest are standard
vertical beaded boards, but that between the Kammer and the pantry consists of vertical
boards joined by narrow battens with cyma molds on the edges. The ceilings in all rooms
except the Kuche are also sheathed with beaded boards. The original doors are of two
sorts.. Some have vertical beaded boards and tapered dovetailed battens while others have
central, rabbeted vertical rails joining beaded vertical boards on gither side, the whole
-secured by battens with cyma edges. On these doors is a remarkable collection of
original hardware, among the few examples of surviving elaborate hardware in Virginia.

. All of the latches are the Suffolk type, but their nailing plates are highly wrought.
The exterior cellar door latch has a very large "bean” top plate and a small elliptical
bottom one. The doors from Kuche to pantry and from pantry to Kammer have elongated -
bean-leaf plates, while the door from Stube to Kammer has a latch with triangular plates
extended by terminating lobes.

The second-floor plan is similar to the first., Stalrs rise to the attic in the
southeast corner of the Kuche chamber, which has a small fireplace raised-about two feet
from the floor. A stokehole in the back of this fireplace, which served a plate stove
in the Stube chamber, has: been closed. The hardware on the second floor is also note-
worthy; oval-plated latches and long strap hinges with double end lobes are the rule on
this floor.

A notable relic in the front yard of Fort Egypt 1s a large stone basin, two and one-
half feet across, thirteen inches high, and ten inches deep. At the bottom in one side
is a small drain. This stone may have been a mortar or some sort of basin for pressing
fruit juices. At any rate, it has been in the yard for manyyears and is a popular
ocbject of comment in local histories, :

A complete complex of 20th-century farm buildings flanks Fort Egypt on the south
and east. Proceeding from southwest to northeast, they are a frame crib, a large frame
bank barn with a gambrel roof and forebay, a frame tractor and hay shed, a frame chicken
coop, and a long concrete-block equipment shed. There is also a small block storage shed

or office in the front yard. oU (See Continuation Sheet #2)
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7. DESCRIPTION

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The bounds of Fort Egypt have been drawn to include the house and its farmstead..
The north boundary follows a fence line, and the south line follows the 750' contour.

- 8. SIGNIFICANCE : : ‘

sales and changes in surname, the property has remained in the hands of the builder's
descendants.
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UeS.G.3. 7.5'quadrangle (scale:1:24000)
Hemburg, Va, 1967

FORT ECYPT, Page County, Virginia
UTM References:
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